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LYD88  
Cannon Street Station north, Upper Thames Street (Dowgate Hill), EC4  
B Bishop, M Burch, J Hill and A Stephenson 
 
NGR: TQ 32600 80830 
SMR: 041620–5 
 
Excavations funded by Speyhawk plc took place in the two bays of the railway viaduct 
immediately N of Upper Thames Street, on the site of part of the presumed Roman 
governor’s palace, a scheduled ancient monument. 
 
Natural sands and silts on the E bank of the mouth of the Walbrook were enclosed behind 
a timber revetment; the infilled ground was terraced by substantial masonry retaining 
walls running N, parallel to the Walbrook, and E, parallel to the presumed Thames 
waterfront lying outside the site to the S. The S face of the latter wall was buttressed, 
probably with both curved and squared tile-built projections. A series of culverts and 
drains incorporated in these walls and the Walbrook revetment carried off surface water. 
The provisional date of these structures is Flavian, and they relate presumably to the 
palatial structures to the E (recorded in 1966–72) and N (observed in 1865). 
 
These structures were superseded by more land reclamation in the late 2nd early 3rd c, 
when a new revetment was constructed a further 25m to the W, on the Walbrook, and 
presumably also to the S, on the Thames (see Cannon Street Station south, UTA87). A 
large quantity of building rubble was used for infill and a masonry building was 
constructed extending to the S and W. The foundations of this building included oak piles, 
many of which were reused house timbers of 1st c date. One room contained a hypocaust 
and an opus signinum floor, and another contained a tessellated floor. Separate tiles and 
masonry walls indicated more buildings lying to the N. The Roman sequence was sealed 
to the E by a series of intercutting pits, sealed in turn by a stone-walled cellar, in which a 
new floor was inserted in the 18th c. Strata elsewhere were truncated by construction of 
the railway viaduct in 1865. 
 
The site produced an important assemblage of finds, mostly of Roman date. They include 
a copper alloy bell and a brooch, finger-rings, lock fittings and toilet implements. On-site 
metal detecting enabled 367 Roman coins and other metal items to be recovered. Iron 
objects include a saw and two styli and there were also fragments from three shale 
bracelets, and an intaglio. Later finds include 87 moulded stones and, among post-
medieval finds, glass phials and a bone syringe. 
 
An earlier small excavation on this site took place in 1959, uncovering Roman beams: see 
GM175 above. 
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